RECEIVED

MAR 16 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2016-CP-07-2541  
Appellate Case No. 2022-000231

---

Forum Benefits, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

Brian Bannon and Assured Partners, NL,

Respondents.

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

Timothy D. St. Clair  
Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP  
110 East Court Street, Suite 200  
Greenville, SC 29601

Katon Edwards Dawson, Jr.  
Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP  
1221 Main Street, Suite 1100  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Steven R. LeBlanc  
Steve Leblanc, LLC  
P.O. Box 9198

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED GRANTING DIRECTED VERDICT TO RESPONDENTS.
  - A. DID THE TRIAL COURT'S DIRECTED VERDICT ON APPELLANT'S CONTRACT CLAIM RELY ON LEGAL ERROR AND DISPUTED FACTS?
  - B. DID THE TRIAL COURT'S DIRECTED VERDICT OF NO FIDUCIARY DUTY BY RESPONDENT BANNON RELY ON LEGAL ERROR?
  - C. DID THE TRIAL COURT'S DIRECTED VERDICT ON APPELLANT'S TRADE SECRET CLAIM RELY ON LEGAL ERROR AND DISPUTED FACTS?
  - D. DID THE TRIAL COURT'S DIRECTED VERDICT ON APPELLANT'S CONVERSION CLAIM RELY ON LEGAL ERROR AND DISPUTED FACTS?
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS TO RESPONDENTS.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT RECUSING ITSELF FOR EXTRAJUDICIAL BIAS FAVORING A RESPONDENT.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Forum Benefits, LLC (“Forum Benefits”) is an insurance broker of health, life, and disability insurance policies. (R. p. 34, ¶ 2). Forum Benefits utilizes a proprietary design and build-out of a subscription software application named “Employee Navigator” to collect, organize, and compile employee census data and insurance plan information into a database for each client. (R. pp. 138-139; 179; 356-359; 378-386). Forum Benefits then applies this database of employee census data and insurance plan information to proprietary algorithms stored on its SharePoint server to provide Forum Benefits with a competitive advantage in administering benefits for clients and negotiating rates with insurance providers. (R. pp. 356-359; 390-396). Forum Benefits restricted access to Employee Navigator and the SharePoint server to certain personnel via login credentials. (R. pp. 138-139; 387-389; 397).

Brian Bannon (“Bannon”) began employment with Forum Benefits in 2009 as a full-time sales representative. (R. p. 968; 60-75; 90; 496). Bannon signed and delivered a written employment agreement with Forum Benefits that required, among other things, that Bannon not use or disclose Forum Benefits’ trade secrets for any reason or purpose whatsoever, except as an employee of Forum Benefits and with the consent of Forum Benefits. (R. pp. 966-970, ¶ 12; 505-507). In 2013, Bannon transitioned to an independent contractor role with Forum Benefits and continued to represent Forum Benefits as a sales representative to existing and prospective clients. (R. p. 208).

On October 15, 2016, Bannon began employment as a Senior Vice President of Assured Partners, NL (“Assured Partners”), another insurance broker and direct competitor of Forum Benefits. (R. p. 173; 218). Yet for four weeks following that date he continued to hold himself out as Forum Benefits’ sales representative, hiding his employment with Assured Partners from Forum Benefits. (R. pp. 230-231). During that four (4) week overlap, Bannon secretly obtained and forwarded Employee Navigator login credentials for Forum Benefits’ clients to Assured Partners. (R.

pp. 756-759; 181; 183-184; 188; 190-194; 247; 274-275). Evidently knowing his actions were wrong, Bannon forwarded those credentials to Assured Partners with his personal email account. (R. p. 181). Bannon also downloaded approximately 2,000 files containing Forum Benefits' proprietary algorithms from Forum Benefits' SharePoint server using the login credentials he had received from Forum Benefits. (R. pp. 174-175; 195-196; 198). During that four (4) week overlap, Assured Partners repeatedly urged its employees to expedite copying Forum Benefits' trade secrets before Forum Benefits discovered what they were doing. (R. p. 188).

On December 1, 2016, Forum Benefits sued Bannon and Assured Partners (collectively, "Respondents"), alleging among other things misappropriation of trade secrets, breach of contract, conversion, and breach of fiduciary duty. (R. pp. 34-56). A jury trial commenced on October 11, 2021. (R. p. 57).

Testimony and exhibits were provided that showed that continuous access to Forum Benefits' database of employee census data and insurance plan information compiled in the Employee Navigator accounts was an important factor in clients' decisions to move their business from Forum Benefits to Assured Partners. Nine clients were identified who were associated with Bannon that actively used Forum Benefits' Employee Navigator accounts. Bannon provided Employee Navigator client login credentials for three of those clients, and all three moved their business from Forum Benefits to Assured Partners. None of the other six clients—for whom Bannon provided no Employee Navigator client login credentials—transferred their business from Forum Benefits to Assured Partners. (R. pp. 281-282; 448-450; 569-572).

The annual commissions associated with each client that switched from Forum Benefits to Assured Partners would support a verdict in favor of Forum Benefits in excess of \$1.5M. (R. pp. 771-816; 520-530; 534-560; 573-578).

During trial, Forum Benefits moved for the trial judge to recuse himself, based on conduct by the trial judge with Mack Ward, an Assured Partners' principal, in the courtroom during a break. The motion was denied. (R. p. 468, lines 4-6, lines 4-6). Instead, the trial judge granted an oral motion for directed verdict for Respondents on all causes of action. (R. pp. 686-687). Respondents then made two oral motions for attorneys' fees and costs, which the trial judge immediately granted before even hearing a response from Forum Benefits. (R. pp. 689-690).

On October 25, 2021, Forum Benefits filed a Motion for New Trial. (R. pp. 1877-1909). Respondents filed a Response in Opposition to Forum Benefits' Motion for a New Trial on November 1, 2021. (R. pp. 1916-1945).

On October 25, 2021, Forum Benefits filed a Response to Respondents' oral motions for attorneys' fees. (R. pp. 1910-1915). Respondents replied on November 1, 2021. (R. pp. 1946-1971). On November 4, 2021, Respondents' counsel filed an affidavit regarding attorneys' fees. (R. pp. 1972-2171).

On November 9, 2021, Respondents emailed to chambers a proposed Order, which had not been requested by the trial court, to "confirm" the trial court's directed verdict and attorneys' fee rulings. (R. pp. 2172-2181). Forum Benefits objected to the unsolicited proposed Order as improper pursuant to Rule 8(c) of the Electronic Filing Policies and Guidelines and as an attempt to re-write the trial court's oral rulings.

On November 16, 2021, Forum Benefits filed a Reply in Support of Its Motion for a New Trial. (R. pp. 2182-2199).

On December 29, 2021, Forum Benefits filed a Supplemental Response to Respondents' Motions for Attorneys' Fees. (R. pp. 2200-2204).

On January 4, 2022, the trial court conducted a hearing on Forum Benefits' Motion for a New Trial. Forum Benefits presented live testimony from Michelle Filler, Lisa Hollingsworth Stritt, and

Brian Stritt (“Stritt”), describing their observations of the trial judge’s extrajudicial conduct with Mack Ward in the courtroom. (R. pp. 698-727; 2205-2207; 2208-2209; 2210-2211).

On February 1, 2022, the trial court filed an Order granting a directed verdict against Forum Benefits on all causes of action, confirming an award of Respondents’ attorneys’ fees and costs, and entering judgment against Forum Benefits. (R. pp. 22-30). This February 1, 2022, Order is a verbatim copy of the unsolicited proposed Order that Respondents had filed and sent to chambers on November 9, 2021. (R. pp. 2172-2181).

Forum Benefits served Respondents with its Notice of Appeal on February 25, 2022.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

### A. Directed Verdict

When reviewing the trial court’s decision on a motion for directed verdict, the Court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. “When considering a motion for a directed verdict, the [trial] court must ‘view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion and [must] deny the motion when either the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt.’” *Turner v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 430 S.C. 569, 582, 846 S.E.2d 1, 7 (Ct. App. 2020) (quoting *Estate of Carr ex rel. Bolton v. Circle S Enters., Inc.*, 379 S.C. 31, 38, 664 S.E.2d 83, 86 (Ct. App. 2008)). “In deciding whether to grant or deny a directed verdict motion, the trial court is concerned only with the existence or nonexistence of evidence.” *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 22, 640 S.E.2d 486, 498 (Ct. App. 2006) (citation omitted). When reviewing an order granting a directed verdict motion the Court does not have the “authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence.” *Id.*

### B. Award of Attorneys’ Fees

Under South Carolina law, an award of attorneys’ fees must be reversed if the circuit court abused its discretion in issuing the award. *EFCO Corp. v. Renaissance on Charleston Harbor, LLC*, 370

S.C. 612, 621, 635 S.E.2d 922, 926 (Ct. App. 2006). The trial court abuses its discretion in awarding attorneys' fees when the award is based on an error of law or is without any evidentiary support. *See Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp.*, 326 S.C. 248, 252, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997).

### **C. Disqualification of the Trial Judge**

Under Canon 3(E)(1)(a) of Rule 501, SCACR, a trial judge should disqualify himself in a proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned. *See Patel v. Patel*, 359 S.C. 515, 524, 599 S.E.2d 114, 118 (2004); *Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, 409 S.C. 266, 284, 762 S.E.2d 535, 545 (2014). A party seeking disqualification must show some evidence of bias or prejudice. *See Mallett v. Mallett*, 323 S.C. 141, 473 S.E.2d 804 (Ct. App. 1996). If there is evidence of judicial bias or prejudice, a trial judge's failure to disqualify himself should be reversed on appeal. *See Ellis v. Procter & Gamble Dist. Co.*, 315 S.C. 283, 433 S.E.2d 856 (1993).

## **ARGUMENTS**

### **I. The Trial Court Erred in Granting Directed Verdict in favor of the Respondents.**

#### **A. The Directed Verdict on Forum Benefits' Contract Claim Relies on a Combination of Legal Errors and Disputed Facts for the Jury to Decide**

The February 1, 2022 Order directed a verdict in favor of Bannon on Forum Benefits' breach of contract claim, ruling as a matter of law, *inter alia*, that (1) Forum Benefits failed to prove the existence of a signed contract to satisfy the Statute of Frauds and (2) Forum Benefits failed to prove that there was a meeting of the minds on the essential terms of the alleged contract. (R. p. 23). The rulings are legally erroneous and improperly invaded the province of the jury.

##### **1. The Trial Court Erred in Concluding as a Matter of Law that Forum Benefits Failed to Prove the Existence of a Signed Employment Agreement to Satisfy the Statute of Frauds**

Respondents argued, and the trial court agreed, that Forum Benefits' failure to produce a signed employment agreement prevented Forum Benefits from satisfying the Statute of Frauds as a matter of law. (R. pp. 628-629; 636; 686; 23 at ¶ A(1)). This ruling incorrectly applies the Statute of

Frauds by ignoring substantial, corroborating evidence that Bannon did, in fact, sign an employment agreement with Forum Benefits.

Evidence sufficient to satisfy the Statute of Frauds is not limited exclusively to production of a signed agreement. Courts in other jurisdictions have regularly recognized the lost memorandum exception to the Statute of Frauds and allowed parol evidence to prove the existence of a signed agreement that complies with the Statute of Frauds. *See, e.g., Alph C. Kaufman, Inc. v. Cornerstone Indus. Corp.*, 540 S.W.3d 803 (Ky. Ct. App. 2017); *Gipson v. Mattox*, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 86207 (S.D. Ala. 2006). In *Gipson*, the court recognized, “That no written agreement has been produced today does not require a conclusion that no such document ever existed. If a written agreement previously existed, but was lost, destroyed or purloined, then defendant can introduce evidence to that effect in order to satisfy the Statute of Frauds.” *Gipson*, at \*37; *see, also, McInnis v. Lind*, 108 P.3d 578, 582 n.2 (Or. App. 2005) (observing many exceptions to the statute of frauds’ prohibition on parol evidence to support an agreement, including where a writing is lost or is in the possession of an adverse party); *Latino Food Marketers, LLC v. Ole Mexican Foods, Inc.*, 2003 WL 23220142, \*5 (W.D. Wis. Aug. 20, 2003) (“if the parties did indeed form a contract that met the requirements of the statutes of frauds, the contract is enforceable even if the writing is lost or destroyed”); *Connecticut Bank & Trust Co. v. Wilcox*, 518 A.2d 928, 931 (Conn.1986) (“the loss or destruction of a memorandum does not deprive it of effect under the Statute of Frauds,” where the writing can be proven by secondary evidence).

Comment (a) of section 137 of the *Restatement (Second) of Contracts* echoes this line of authority, stating, “In cases of loss or destruction, the contents of a memorandum may be shown by an unsigned copy or by oral evidence.” *See also Corbin on Contracts* § 23.10 (2006) (“If the requirements of the statute of frauds are satisfied by a signed contract or memorandum, the contract remains enforceable even though the writing is lost or destroyed. The contents of the writing can then be proved by parol testimony and the contract enforced.”).

South Carolina courts also allow parol evidence to establish the existence of a written contract when the contract cannot be located. See *Yadkin Valley Bank & Tr. v. Oaktree Homes, Inc.*, No. 2014-UP-306, 2014 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 395, \*1-4 (Ct. App. July 30, 2014). In *Yadkin*, the court noted that to avoid a statute of frauds defense, a plaintiff would need to satisfy a heightened standard of “clear and convincing” proof that the signed document existed.

Unlike the plaintiff in *Yadkin*, Forum Benefits did not rely solely on self-serving, uncorroborated testimony and, instead, introduced clear and convincing evidence to establish the existence of the missing employment contract with Bannon. Bannon began working for Forum Benefits in Charleston in 2009, (R. pp. 122, 133), and David Wyatt (“Wyatt”) testified that Brian Stritt engaged him in 2009 to prepare an employment agreement for a new employee that would be hired in Charleston. (R. pp. 968-974; 60-75, 90; 504-505). Stritt testified that Plaintiff’s Exhibit 137 is a blank employment agreement prepared by Wyatt (R. pp. 968-974; 60-75, 90; 499-501); that Ex. 163 is a completed employment agreement signed by Bannon’s co-employee Chris Whatley on May 18, 2009 (R. pp. 975-982; 497-499, 501-502); and that Ex. 163 is substantially identical to the completed employment agreement signed by Bannon (R. pp. 502-504). Stritt further testified that Bannon signed the employment agreement when Stritt delivered the first paycheck to Bannon on June 1, 2009 (R. pp. 505-507); that Stritt placed the signed employment agreement in Bannon’s employment file (R. p. 506); and that Stritt only discovered that the signed employment agreement was missing—along with Bannon’s entire employment file—shortly after Stritt learned that Bannon had been hired by Assured Partners (R. pp. 506-507). The suspicious nature of Bannon’s “lost” employment agreement—along with the entirety of his employment file—supports a reasonable inference that it was actually taken by, or at the direction of, Bannon. These are not matters of law for the trial court to decide, but instead are disputed questions of fact for the jury. By granting a directed verdict based on the Statute of Frauds, the trial court made credibility decisions and weighed material evidence, a

job to be performed by the jury.

The evidence regarding the existence of a signed employment agreement created several factual disputes for the jury to resolve. *Kumpf v. United Tel. Co. of the Carolinas*, 311 S.C. 533, 429 S.E.2d 869 (Ct. App. 1993) (holding that “a trial court should submit to the jury the issue of the existence of a contract when its existence is questioned and the evidence is either conflicting or admits of more than one inference.”). Therefore, the factual dispute regarding whether Bannon signed an employment agreement with Forum Benefits should have been submitted to the jury. Accordingly, the trial court erred in directing verdict in favor of Respondents.

**2. The Trial Court Erred in Concluding as a Matter of Law that Forum Benefits Failed to Prove a Meeting of the Minds on the Essential Terms of Bannon’s Employment Agreement**

The February 1, 2022, Order asserts that as a matter of law “[Forum Benefits] failed to prove that there was a meeting of the minds on the essential terms of the alleged contract.” (R. p. 23). This ruling ignores the evidence introduced at trial that created disputed facts for the jury to decide regarding the essential terms in Bannon’s employment agreement and his agreement to those terms.

The evidence noted above, such as that in Section I(A)(1), shows that the trial court erred. This evidence created disputed questions of fact for the jury to decide, and the trial court’s determination that Forum Benefits “failed to prove” these disputed questions of fact improperly invaded the province of the jury and constitutes legal error.

**3. The Trial Court Erred in Concluding as a Matter of Law that the Alleged Breaches of Contract Occurred After the Restrictive Covenants had Expired**

The directed verdict ruling that the alleged breaches of contract occurred after the restrictive covenants had expired refers to the contract “restrictions relating to the disclosure of confidential information and solicitation of customers,” which had a two-year post-employment duration. (R. pp. 968-974; 630; 23). This ruling ignores that Forum Benefits introduced evidence that Bannon breached

a different employment agreement provision that prohibited Bannon from disclosing Forum Benefits' trade secrets and confidential information—this restriction was unlimited in duration.

David Wyatt and Brian Stritt provided testimony, corroborated by Plaintiff's Exhibits 137 (R. pp. 968-974) and 163 (R. pp. 975-982), that paragraph 12 of the employment agreement signed by Bannon included covenants not to disclose Forum Benefits' trade secrets and confidential information and that these covenants were unlimited in duration. (R. pp. 968-974; 60-75; 90). Paragraph 12(a) of the employment agreement specifically acknowledges that Forum Benefits "has information that is confidential and constitutes trade secrets which [Forum Benefits] uses in its business, and which is essential to its continued ability to compete and be successful in the industry." (R. p. 969, ¶ 12(a)). Paragraphs 12(b)-(c) incorporate the definition of "trade secrets" provided in S.C. CODE ANN. § 39-8-10, *et seq.* (R. pp. 969-970, ¶¶ 12(b),(c)). Paragraphs 12(d)-(e) provide specific examples of Forum Benefits' trade secrets, including many of the items Bannon downloaded and shared with Assured Partners. (R. p. 970, ¶¶ 12(d),(e)). Paragraph 12(f) specifically provided that

Employee [Bannon] covenants and agrees that during Employee's [Bannon's] employment and at all times thereafter, Employee [Bannon] shall not use any Trade Secrets of the Company [Forum Benefits], except as an employee of the Company [Forum Benefits] with the consent of the Company [Forum Benefits]. Employee [Bannon] further covenants and agrees that during Employee's [Bannon's] employment and at all times thereafter, Employee [Bannon] shall not use or disclose any Trade Secrets of the Company [Forum Benefits] to any firm, company, corporation, association or other entity, for any reason or purpose whatsoever, except as an employee of the Company [Forum Benefits] with the consent of the Company [Forum Benefits].

(R. p. 970, ¶ 12(f)) (emphasis added).

The clear and unambiguous language of the employment agreement prohibits Bannon from ever copying and sharing Forum Benefits' trade secrets and confidential information without permission. The S.C. Trade Secrets Act provides that this obligation not to use or disclose tradesecrets "must not be considered void or unenforceable or against public policy for lack of a durational or geographical limitation." S.C. CODE ANN. § 39-8-30(D) (emphasis added). Therefore, Bannon's

contractual obligations not to disclose or use Forum Benefits' trade secrets and confidential information without Forum Benefits' consent are not limited in duration and are enforceable in accordance with ordinary principles of contract law.

The trial court erred in concluding as a matter of law that the alleged breaches of contract occurred after the restrictive covenants had expired.

**4. The Trial Court Erred in Concluding as a Matter of Law that Forum Benefits Failed to Establish the Required Elements of a Restrictive Covenant Agreement**

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