THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 15 2023

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-07-2541
Appellate Case No. 2022-000231

Forum Benefits, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Brian Bannon and Assured Partners, NL, Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

Jeffrey A. Lehrer (S.C. Bar No. 16687)
Matthew J. Gilley (S.C. Bar No. 75726)
FORDHARRISON LLP
100 Dunbar Street, Suite 300
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306
Telephone: (864) 699-1100
Email: jlehrer@fordharrison.com
Email: mgilley@fordharrison.com

William B. Harvey, III
Harvey & Battey, P.A.
P.O. Box 1107
Beaufort, SC 29901

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

With regard to the fourth element, Appellant is clearly attempting to mislead the Court to avoid the repercussions of the mandatory prevailing party fee provision in its own document. Appellant is now taking a position that is contrary to the testimony of its own attorney and first witness at trial, David Wyatt, who clearly confirmed that Bannon would be entitled to his fees under the language of the document he drafted. Finally, Appellant's positions are totally inconsistent – its Verified Complaint says there is a contract and it is seeking fees under that contract. Now, after losing at trial, Appellant contends there was no meeting of the minds and no contract. Therefore, judicial estoppel applies in this case and Appellant's arguments are barred.

Appellant also mistakenly contends that the trial court should not have awarded Bannon his attorneys' fees because AssuredPartners, rather than Bannon, actually paid the attorneys' fees Respondents incurred in the defense of this case. Once again, Appellant's position is simply wrong and directly contrary to the position it took previously in this case.

In an attempt to support its position, Appellant misapplies the Supreme Court's reasoning in Williamson v. Middleton, 681 S.E. 2d 867 (S.C. 2009), and contends that its holding prohibited the trial court from awarding attorneys' fees to Bannon if he did not pay the attorneys' fees himself.

Appellant's Brief p. 36. Appellant's reliance on Williamson misses the mark as the attorney in that case did not charge his client a fee for his services, but was acting in a gratuitous pro bono capacity.

Williamson, 681 S.E.2d at 870. Specifically, the Williamson Court found,

Middleton's counsel was deposed on the issue of attorney's fees. He acknowledged that he and Middleton were personal friends, that he had handled other legal matters for Middleton in the past without taking a fee, and that Middleton was never sent any statements of attorney's fees incurred. Furthermore, Middleton's counsel answered in the negative when specifically asked if Middleton incurred any attorney's fee."

Id. The Williamson Court, however, did not hold that a party must personally pay for attorneys' fees to receive an attorneys' fee award as the prevailing party in a breach of contract case.⁷

Contrary to Appellant's argument, South Carolina law does not require that Bannon personally pay his attorneys' fees to recover his attorneys' fees as the prevailing party. See Maddux Supply Co. v. Safhi, Inc., 450 S.E.2d 101, 106 (S.C. Ct. App. 1994) ("Clearly, Benchmark's costs and attorneys' fees were incurred in this matter for the benefit and in the interest of Safhi . . . Thus, we concur in the master's ruling that 'as the prevailing party, Safhi (for the benefit of Benchmark . . . and as the party to which Safhi tendered the defense of this matter) is entitled to an award of costs and attorneys' fees.'").

Whether Bannon personally paid attorneys' fees and costs has no bearing on the trial court's ability to award attorneys' fees to Bannon as the prevailing party on the breach of contract claim. Bannon was sued as an employee of AssuredPartners. It is common in this situation for the then current employer to pay for its fees along with the fees of its employee who was also sued

⁷ The parties briefed these issues before the trial court entered the Order. Appellant's brief, like its argument to the trial court, cites no case law to support its position in this regard and Respondents submit that Appellant has not accurately represented to this Court the information submitted to the trial court before the trial court entered its Order.

individually. This payment for the benefit of the employee does not in any way limit the recovery of those fees. Many jurisdictions agree with South Carolina law on this precise analysis. See Rogers v. Vulcan Mfg. Co., 93 So. 3d 1058, 1060 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2012); Weichert Co. of Maryland v. Faust, 419 Md. 306, 19 A.3d 393, 408 (2011); Developers Diversified of Tennessee, Inc. v. Tokio Marine & Fire Ins. Co., 2019 WL 1861322, at *8 (M.D. Tenn. Apr. 25, 2019).

Further, the prevailing party attorneys' fees provision in the Employment Agreement does not require the prevailing party to actually incur or pay their own attorneys' fees and costs to recover them. (R. p. 969). Appellant could have easily added language in the document related to fees the party "directly incurred" or "directly paid" and chose not to do so. Even to the extent Appellant could argue an ambiguity related to its own document, the trial court would have correctly construed any doubts against the drafter, which was indisputably Appellant. See Mathis, 698 S.E.2d at 778.

Finally, this argument by Appellant is another bad faith argument that is barred by estoppel and equity. As discussed above, Appellant sought to recover its own attorneys' fees in the event it prevailed on its contract claim. Significantly, Appellant has admitted that its fees were paid personally by Mr. Stritt rather than Appellant. (R. p. 586, lines 17-22). Specifically, Mr. Stritt testified at trial to the following:

17		Q	And isn't it true that you are personally paying
18			for this lawsuit out of your personal funds?
19		A	That is correct.
20		Q	And Forum Benefits, LLC, hasn't paid a dime in --
21			for this case, have they?
22		A	That is correct.

(R. p. 586, lines 17-22).

Appellant should not be permitted to seek to avoid an obligation it specifically pursued for its own benefit for close to five years of litigation. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in awarding Bannon his attorneys' fees as the prevailing party on Appellant's contract claim and the trial court's ruling should be upheld.

B. The Trial Court Correctly Awarded Respondents' Their Attorneys' Fees And Costs Under The Act Because It Properly Determined Within Its Discretion That Appellant Pursued Its Trade Secret Claim In Bad Faith.

The Act provides that, "[i]f (1) a claim of misappropriation is made in bad faith . . . the court may award reasonable attorney's fees to the prevailing party. S.C. Code Ann. § 39-8-80. This is clearly a decision the legislature left to the trial court's discretion.

Appellant first attempts to challenge the trial court's ruling by claiming that the words "bad" or "faith" do not appear in the directed verdict arguments or in the trial court's directed verdict ruling. Appellant's Brief p. 27-28. However, Appellant ignores the fact that the issue of bad faith was not specifically before the trial court until after the trade secret claim was dismissed and Respondents moved for attorney's fees under the Act. Respondents directly raised the issue of bad faith under the Act after the trial court granted a directed verdict. (R. pp. 689, line 21-p. 690, line 4). Accordingly, Appellant's first argument is without any merit.

Second, Appellant improperly relies on Southeastern Site Prep, LLC v. Atlantic Coast Builders and Contractors, LLC, 713 S.E.2d 650 (S.C. Ct. App. 2011) for the proposition that bad faith cannot be found following the denial of a summary judgment motion. Appellant is again mistaken in its analysis. The analysis in Southeastern pertained to frivolity sanctions under Rule 11, not bad faith under the Act. Id. 654. Further, even if the standard in Southeastern applied here (which it does not), the procedural posture of the case at bar differs substantially from Southeastern. Here, the judge that heard Respondents' motion for summary judgment retired

before ruling on said motion. (R. 558-559). Thereafter, a second judge denied Respondents' motion and provided no explanation for the denial. *Id.* A third judge, Judge Bentley Price, presided over the trial in this case. As such, in the case at bar, no pre-trial findings or rulings were made that precluded the trial court's finding that Appellant pursued this claim in bad faith.

The trial court heard all of Appellant's evidence and witnesses, and then determined that Appellant's evidence (or, more importantly, *complete lack thereof*) supported a finding of bad faith. The trial court's bad faith finding was warranted and within its discretion given the complete lack of evidence Appellant provided on every element of this claim. See Section I.C above.

Most significant to this issue on appeal is the fact that the trial court's attorneys' fee award is governed by an abuse of discretion standard. See e.g. Blumberg v. Nealco, Inc., 310 S.C. 492, 493, 427 S.E.2d 659 (1993) (finding that a trial judge's decision to award attorneys' fees will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion). The appellate court should not reverse a fee award unless it is based on an error of law or is without any evidentiary support. See Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp., 326 S.C. 248, 252, 487 S.E.2d 596 (1997).

Significantly, the clear legislative intent of the Act was to provide the trial court with the discretion to make a bad faith determination, similar to the determination the trial court would have been required to make if Appellant had prevailed and sought exemplary damages under the Act. "The SCTSA provides that 'the court may award reasonable attorney's fees to the prevailing party' if '(1) a claim of misappropriation is made in bad faith, (2) a motion to terminate an injunction is made or resisted in bad faith, or (3) willful misappropriation exists.'" Uhlig, LLC v. Shirley, 895 F. Supp. 2d 707, 710 (D.S.C. 2012) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 39-8-80). These are determinations to be made by the trial court after hearing the evidence "deduced at trial." *Id.* The

trial court is vested with the authority to make a bad faith finding and award attorneys' fees. S.C. Code Ann. § 39-8-80.

“South Carolina courts have not addressed the standard for determining whether a claim under the SCTSA was brought in bad faith warranting attorney’s fees.” Uhlig LLC v. Shirley, 2012 WL 3062659, at *2 (D.S.C. July 26, 2012). “However, the United States District Court for the District of Maryland has discussed the bad faith standard under the Maryland Uniform Trade Secrets Act, which includes an attorney’s fee provision identical to SCTSA. Id. (internal citations omitted). “In evaluating the defendants’ fee request, the district court for the District of Maryland noted that a finding of bad faith required ‘clear evidence that the action [was] entirely without color and taken for other improper purposes.’” Id. The court further commented that “knowing persistence in an invalid claim demonstrates subjective bad faith” and is sufficient to warrant an award of attorneys’ fees under the statute. Id.

The trial court’s finding of bad faith was supported by the evidence (or Appellant’s complete lack thereof) and was not an abuse of discretion. Appellant litigated this case for approximately five years. During that time, Appellant never produced any valid evidence of proximately caused damages, never identified information that could possibly rise to the level of a trade secret, never established that its information was “misappropriated” as defined in the Act, and shockingly never asked even one client why they moved with Bannon to AssuredPartners. (R. p. 610, line 6-p. 611 line 22). (Mr. Stritt testified with regard to Bannon’s clients, “We haven’t gone after them or talked to them”). Tellingly, not one client for which Appellant was seeking damages was called as a witness in Appellant’s case at trial. There was absolutely no evidence presented to suggest that Bannon ever had possession of or misappropriated any of Appellant’s alleged trade secrets, but even more egregious was Appellant’s pursuit of this claim against

AssuredPartners, which never received any of Appellant's alleged trade secret information. See Section I.C.2 above. Appellant wasted the trial court's time, Respondents' time, and caused Respondents to incur hundreds of thousands of dollars litigating a completely baseless trade secrets claim.

The trial court correctly ruled against Appellant on every conceivable issue with respect to its trade secret claim. (R. p. 22). It is hard to envision circumstances that would present a more-clear case of bad faith under the Act than this case. Appellant's willfully persisted in the prosecution of this invalid claim and made no reasonable attempt to prove the elements of its claim because none existed. The overwhelming evidence at trial showed that Appellant's pursuit of this claim was entirely baseless and without color. To reverse the trial court's ruling under these facts would essentially destroy the legislative intent designed to give the trial court discretion to award the defendant attorneys' fees and to deter the pursuit of these claims in bad faith. Therefore, the trial court's ruling that Appellant pursued its claim under the Act in bad faith was within its discretion to make and should be upheld.

III. Appellant's Did Not Have A Valid Basis To Recuse The Trial Judge And There Is No Basis For A New Trial.

The morning of the third day of trial, following two full days of trial testimony, when Appellant knew its case was going terribly, Appellant moved to recuse the trial judge. (R. pp. 465-478). There was no valid basis for this motion. The entire substance of Appellant's argument was and is that the trial judge should have recused himself after two days of trial testimony because the trial judge realized he knew a "potential" witnesses when the witness showed up to the courtroom. At that time, the Judge realized he knew the potential witness (Mack Ward) from over 17 years prior when they were in college at Wofford together. The trial judge immediately announced the relationship to all counsel and the case continued on – no objection being made (and thus waived).

Appellant even consented to the trial judge saying hello to Mr. Ward during the break. It wasn't until the following day that Appellant complained.

Importantly, Mr. Ward was not a material witness at trial. Indeed, although Appellant subpoenaed Mr. Ward to appear at trial, Appellant never actually called Mr. Ward to testify, and instead released him from his subpoena during the second day of trial and *prior* to its motion for recusal the following day. (R. p. 474, line 14-p. 475, line 4; p. 478, lines 20-25). Appellant did not and has not presented any evidence to remotely suggest that the trial court was biased because he went to college with a "potential" witness who was never called to testify at trial. The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion and its ruling should be affirmed.

Appellant's motion was flawed for multiple reasons. First, Appellant waived its motion for recusal by agreeing to the trial judge saying hello to Mr. Ward (R. p. 469, lines 4-6), releasing Mr. Ward from his subpoena prior to calling him as a witness (R. p. 474, line 14-p. 475 line 4), calling other witnesses after the college relationship became known (*Id*), and then waiting until the following day, the third day of trial, to make its motion for recusal (R. p. 466). See Duplan Corp v. Milliken, 400 F. Supp 497, 510 (D.S.C. 1975) ("Timeliness is essential to any recusal motion. To be timely, a recusal motion must be made at counsel's first opportunity after discovery of the disqualifying facts.").

Appellant apparently understood that its failure to ever call Mr. Ward as a witness was fatal to its claim that he was a material witness in the case. So, in making its motion for recusal the following day, Appellant's counsel claimed that he did not call Mr. Ward to testify after learning that the trial judge knew him from college. (R. p. 475, lines 5-19). Appellant cannot be permitted to choose not to call Mr. Ward on this alleged basis, call other witnesses and see how their testimony goes, and then wait until the following day to make its motion for recusal. This was not

remotely timely and definitely not the “first opportunity.” Duplan Corp, 400 F. Supp at 510. If Appellant had time to consider whether to call Mr. Ward the second day of trial, it had time to consider a motion to recuse the judge at that time and failed to do so.

Notably, Laurie Winston testified at the end of day two of trial and her fatal admissions discussed above essentially destroyed Appellant’s ability to prove its claims. (R. pp. 407-441); see Section I.C.1. above. This damaging testimony was more likely than not the reason Appellant decided to proceed with the motion for recusal the next day. But its true reasons are not relevant given that the motion was untimely.

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